I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves fundamental issues under three cornerstones of

Washington state environmental and land use laws: (1) the requirements of

of the Growth Management Act ( "GMA "), ch. 36.70A RCW, for counties

to conserve resource lands (such as commercial forest lands) through

periodic review of their development regulations, (2) the requirements of

the Planning Enabling Act ( "PEA "), ch. 36.70 RCW, for counties to adopt

development regulations consistent with their comprehensive plans, and

3) the requirements of the State Environmental Policy Act ( "SEPA "), ch.

43.21C RCW, for local governments to review and consider the

environmental implications of their actions.

On August 21, 2012, Skamania County passed into law Ordinance

2012 -08, which lifted a five -year development moratorium from

thousands of acres of unzoned lands, opening up these lands to unplanned

and unregulated development. The affected lands have never been zoned

by the County's zoning ordinance, but were protected from July 10, 2007

to August 21, 2012 by the moratorium ordinances, which prohibited a

variety of development activities on these lands, including building

permits, land divisions, and conversions of forest lands to non - forest uses.

In each of its moratorium ordinances, the County declared that it was
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actively working to zone the unzoned lands and to adopt regulatory

controls and measures to protect resources on them.

With the enactment of Ordinance 2012 -08, however, the County

suddenly decided to revoke the five -year moratorium's protections from

thousands of acres of land —even while including findings within the very

same ordinance that the moratorium should be continued on these lands.

Shortly after Ordinance 2012 -08 was passed into law, Plaintiffs'

filed a Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief in the Clark

County Superior Court, seeking compliance with the GMA, PEA, and

SEPA. The Superior Court granted part of one claim in favor of Plaintiffs,

but dismissed all other claims.

The Superior Court's Order of Dismissal should be reversed and

remanded on the following grounds. First, the Superior Court erred by

concluding that the County met its responsibilities to conduct periodic

review of its natural resource lands designations under the GMA, and also

erred by dismissing Plaintiffs' periodic review claim as time - barred.

Second, the Court erred in dismissing as time - barred Plaintiffs' claims that

the County is in violation of the PEA by failing to take action to adopt

Plaintiffs are Save Our Scenic Area ( "SOSA ") and Friends of the Columbia

Gorge ( "Friends "), nonprofit conservation organizations aggrieved by the County's
actions and inactions.
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development regulations consistent with its 2007 Comprehensive Plan.

Finally, the Court erred in concluding that the enactment of Ordinance

2012 -08, which repealed the five -year moratorium from large portions of

the County, was exempt from environmental review under SEPA.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In issuing its November 9, 2012 Order of Dismissal (CP 413 -15),

the Superior Court made the following errors:

1. The Superior Court erred in dismissing Plaintiffs' claims

that Skamania County has failed to meet the Growth Management Act's

statutory deadline for completing periodic review of the County's natural

resource lands. Issues (a) Was Skamania County required to complete

periodic review of its natural resource lands designations by December 1,

2008? (b) Did the Superior Court err in concluding that the County

completed both its initial designation of natural resource lands and

periodic review of these designations, all by adopting Resolution 2005 -35,

even though this resolution does not even mention periodic review? (c)

Did the Superior Court err in concluding that Plaintiffs' claims involving

periodic review of the County's natural resource lands were time - barred?

2. The Superior Court erred in dismissing as untimely

Plaintiffs' claims that the County is in violation of the Planning Enabling

3



Act by failing to adopt development regulations consistent with the

County's 2007 Comprehensive Plan. Issues (a) Is Skamania County

required by the PEA to adopt development regulations that are consistent

with its Comprehensive Plan? (b) Did the Superior Court err in concluding

that Plaintiffs' consistency claims were time - barred? (c) Does the PEA

contain any appeal periods, statutes of limitation, or judicial review

provisions for raising consistency violations by partial planning counties?

d) If not, is a writ of review and /or declaratory judgment action the proper

method for raising a county's failure to take action to adopt a zoning

ordinance consistent with its comprehensive plan? (e) Did Skamania's

adoption of its zoning ordinance in 1986 trigger any appeal periods for

bringing consistency claims under the PEA, given that the legislature did

not enact the consistency requirement for partial planning counties until

1991? (f) When a county makes no changes to its zoning ordinance, and

instead adopts a series of development moratorium ordinances for several

years in which the county states that it is working to update its zoning

ordinance to ensure consistency with its comprehensive plan, does any

appeal period for raising PEA consistency claims begin to run during the

time the moratorium is in effect?
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3. The Superior Court erred in holding that Skamania

County's decision to modify and repeal its five -year development

moratorium from thousands of acres of land was not subject to

environmental review under the State Environmental Policy Act. Issues

a) Does SEPA require governmental actions to be reviewed for their

probable adverse environmental impacts? (b) By adopting Ordinance

2012 -08, did the County modify and revoke the protections of the five-

year moratorium from thousands of acres of unzoned lands? (c) Did the

Superior Court err in determining that the moratorium lapsed from these

lands? (d) Was the County's repeal of the moratorium from thousands of

acres of land an "action" under SEPA? (f) Did the Superior Court err in

holding that the adoption of Ordinance 2012 -08 was exempt from

environmental review as a procedural action and an emergency action?

4. The Superior Court erred in adopting any findings of fact

contained within its November 9, 2012 Order of Dismissal and related to

the Prior Assignments of Error, including any findings of fact in numbered

findings #1, 2, 3, and 4 in that Order. Issues (a) Did the Superior Court

adopt any findings of fact? (b) If so, are they in error? (c) Are findings

made in a summary judgment order superfluous and need not be

considered by the Court of Appeals?

5



III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

On July 10, 2007, Skamania County adopted its current

Comprehensive Plan. CP 6. On the same day, the County also passed

Ordinance 2007 -10, which established a six -month moratorium

prohibiting various types of development on unincorporated lands that had

not yet been zoned as part of Skamania County Code ( "SCC") Title 21,

the County's zoning ordinance. CP 256 -58.

According to Ordinance 2007 -10, the lands covered by the

moratorium included at least 15,000 acres of privately owned, unzoned

lands. CP 256. The stated purpose for the moratorium was to protect

these privately owned, unzoned lands from development until the County

could "establish zoning classifications on all un -zoned land[s]," CP 259,

because "allowing new construction" on such lands "prior to the County

Commissioners completing the zoning classification process essentially

would be] circumventing the legislative process and could endanger the

public's safety, health and general welfare," CP 257. The activities

prohibited by the moratorium included land divisions, building permits,

and conversions of forest lands to non - forest uses. CP 256, 258.

2 The covered lands also included hundreds of thousands of acres of federally
and state -owned lands, but those lands are not central to the disputes in this appeal.
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Every six months for the next five years, the County renewed the

moratorium. As specified in each moratorium ordinance, the County

found that the unzoned lands remained under threat of development in the

absence of zoning, that these circumstances constituted "an emergency,"

and "that it is in the public's best interest (to protect the public's safety,

health and general welfare) to maintain the status quo [on the unzoned

lands] pending the County's consideration of developing zoning

classifications" for these lands. See, e.g., CP 263.

On June 12, 2012, the County passed into law Ordinance 2012 -04,

again extending the moratorium for six months. CP 317. However, less

than halfway into that six -month period, on August 21, 2012, the County

passed Ordinance 2012 -08 into law. CP 322. The stated purpose of

Ordinance 2012 -08 was to "modify" the moratorium already in place by

significantly narrowing its geographic scope, effectively revoking the

moratorium from all unzoned lands except a specific area located in the far

3 The initial moratorium ordinance was Ordinance 2007 -10. CP 256 -60. The

subsequent renewing ordinances were Ordinances 2008 -01, 2008 -08, 2008 -13, 2010 -01,
2010 -06, 2010 -10, 2011 -03, 2011 -08, and 2012 -04. CP 261 -328.

4 In 2008, the County prepared draft revisions to its zoning ordinance that,
among other things, would have allowed industrial energy facilities and other large -scale
uses throughout most of the County. CP 8. The County indefinitely shelved this proposal,
however, after the Skamania County Hearing Examiner determined that the County
needed to prepare an environmental impact statement under SEPA to evaluate the
impacts of the proposed zoning changes before adopting them. CP 9, 149, 185 -86. The
Hearing Examiner's decision is located at CP 329.
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northwest part of the County, known as the "High Lakes." CP 10, 179,

322. With this change, the moratorium's protections were repealed from

approximately 10,000 acres of privately owned lands. CP 22, 179, 322.

As a "partial planning" county, Skamania County is obligated by

the GMA to designate natural resource lands and critical areas, and to

periodically review these designations according to a statutory timeline.

RCW 36.70A.130(1)(b), 36.70A.170. In each moratorium ordinance

adopted from 2007 through 2012, the County stated that it was

determining which areas will be designated as commercial forest land

and protected from the encroachment of residential uses as required by the

Growth Management Act." See, e.g., CP 256, 321.

On September 6, 2012, the Washington State Department of

Commerce ( "Commerce" ) stated that Skamania County "is currently out

of compliance with the critical areas /resource lands regulations update

requirement under the GMA." CP 165.

The first moratorium ordinance, adopted in 2007, stated that

Skamania County . . . is beginning the process to adopt zoning

classifications for all land within unincorporated Skamania County," and

s Commerce is the agency charged with tracking counties' compliance with
GMA periodic review. RCW 36.70A.106; WAC 365- 196- 610(2)(d). Commerce is also
responsible for adopting statewide substantive and procedural criteria for critical areas
and resource lands. RCW 36.70A.050(1), 36.70A. 190(4)(b).



determined that a moratorium was necessary " until the zoning

classifications related to the 2007 Comprehensive Plan ... are complete."

CP 256, 258. All subsequent ordinances, including Ordinance 2012 -08,

stated that the County was " in the process of updating zoning

classifications for all land within unincorporated Skamania County to be

consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan." See, e.g., CP 261, 320.

Further, all of the moratorium ordinances declared a need to "maintain the

status quo of the area pending the County's consideration of developing

zoning classifications for the areas covered by the newly adopted 2007

Comprehensive Plan." See, e.g., CP 258, 321.

B. Statement of Procedures

On September 11, 2012, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint in the Clark

County Superior Court, seeking declaratory and injunctive relief on four

causes of action. CP 1. First, Plaintiffs alleged that the County had failed

to comply with the GMA's requirement to designate and protect

commercial forest lands. CP 11 -12. Second, Plaintiffs alleged that the

County had failed to comply with the GMA's periodic review

requirements for critical areas and resource lands. CP 12. Third, Plaintiffs

alleged that the County had failed to comply with the PEA's requirement

6 The word "newly" was omitted from Ordinance 2012 -08, CP 321, but
appeared in all prior ordinances.
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to adopt development regulations consistent with the County's 2007

Comprehensive Plan. CP 13 -15. And finally, Plaintiffs alleged that the

County had violated SEPA by failing to review the environmental impacts

of repealing the five -year moratorium from thousands of acres of land via

its decision to enact Ordinance 2012 -08. CP 15 -16.

The County filed a "Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative,

Summary Judgment." CP 93. There were no objections by the County to

any of the factual materials and documents presented by Plaintiffs in

response to the County's motion. On November 9, 2012, the Honorable

Judge Diane M. Woolard heard argument on the County's motion, made

an oral ruling from the bench, RP 45 -46,' and signed an Order of

Dismissal drafted by the County, CP 413 -16.

The Court granted summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs on

critical areas compliance and ordered the County to complete periodic

review of its critical areas ordinance by December 1, 2013. CP 414 -15.

The Court dismissed all other claims, however, holding that the remaining

GMA and PEA claims were time - barred, that the County had complied

with its December 1, 2008 deadline to complete periodic review of its

resource lands, and that the County's decision to revoke the protections of

All references to "RP" in this Brief are to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings
for the November 9, 2012 proceedings before the Clark County Superior Court.

10



the moratorium from large portions of the County was exempt from

environmental review under SEPA. Id. This appeal followed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standards of Review

Appellate courts review orders of summary judgment' de novo,

performing the same inquiry as the trial court. Sheikh v. Choe, 156 Wn. 2d

441, 447, 128 P.3d 574 (2006). When the facts are not in dispute, the

appellate court may grant summary judgment for the nonmoving party.

See Impecoven v. Dep't ofRevenue, 120 Wn. 2d 357, 365, 841 P.2d 752,

755 (1992). In addition, on appeal of a summary judgment motion, when

the facts are uncontroverted, the Superior Court's findings of fact are

superfluous and need not be considered, given the appellate court's de

novo review. Shoulberg v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. I ofJefferson County, 169

Wn. App. 173, 177 -78, 280 P.3d 491 (Div. II, 2012).

This appeal involves interpretation of state statutes, county

ordinances, and state regulations. Statutory interpretation is a question of

law that courts review de novo. Western Telepage, Inc. v. City of Tacoma

8 The Superior Court's decision was titled an Order of Dismissal. CP 413.
However, CR 12(b) states that if a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss is made, but "matters
outside the pleading are presented and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be
treated as one for summary judgment." Here, the County presented material outside the
pleadings, including declarations, an excerpt of a transcript, and other documents. See,
e.g., CP 21 -92. Thus, the Court of Appeals should regard the Superior Court's order as
an order granting summary judgment.
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Dep't ofFin., 140 Wn. 2d 599, 607, 998 P.2d 884 (2000). Interpretation

of county ordinances is also a question of law that the courts review de

novo. See Whatcom County Fire Dist. No. 21 v. Whatcom County, 171

Wn. 2d 421, 427, 256 P.3d 295 (2011). State regulations are interpreted

as if they were statutes. Roller v. Dep't ofLabor & Indus., 128 Wn. App.

922, 926, 117 P.3d 385 (Div. II, 2005).

B. The Superior Court erred in dismissing Plaintiffs' claims that
Skamania County has failed to meet the Growth Management
Act's statutory deadline for completing periodic review of the
County's natural resource lands.

1. Skamania County was required to designate natural
resource lands and critical areas by September 1, 1991,
and to complete periodic review of these designations by
December 1, 2008.

Prior to adoption of the Growth Management Act, land use

planning occurred under the authority of the Planning Enabling Act and

related grants of authority. See RCW 36.70.010. Because Skamania chose

9 Courts first look to a statute's plain language, in order to give effect to
legislative intent and fulfill the obligations of the statute. Lacey Nursing Ctr. v. Dep't of
Revenue, 128 Wn. 2d 40, 53, 905 P.2d 338 (1995). Courts do not construe unambiguous
statutes. Whatcom County v. City of'Bellingham, 128 Wn. 2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303
1996). When a statute is ambiguous, however, courts "construe the statute so as to
effectuate the legislative intent ... determined ẁithin the context of the entire statute. "'

Id. (quoting State v. Elgin, 118 Wn. 2d 551, 556, 825 P.2d 314 (1992)). Courts interpret
statutes to give effect to all language, and so that no portion is rendered meaningless or
superfluous. Id.

10

Unambiguous ordinances are applied according to their plain meaning, while
ambiguous ordinances are construed. Sleasman v. City of Lacey, 159 Wn. 2d 639, 643,
151 P.3d 990 (2007). A reviewing court's "goal in construing zoning ordinances is to
determine legislative purpose and intent." Milestone Homes, Inc. v. City of'Bonney Lake,
145 Wn. App. 118, 126, 186 P.3d 357 (Div. II, 2008).
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to establish a planning agency, the PEA required the County to adopt a

comprehensive plan. RCW 36.70.320 ( "Each planning agency shall

prepare a comprehensive plan for the orderly physical development of the

county, or any portion thereof . . . . "). Pursuant to this requirement,

Skamania County adopted a Comprehensive Plan in 1977 and a zoning

ordinance in 1986. CP 85, 197.

In 1990, the legislature adopted the GMA, codified at chapter

36.70A RCW. For counties that meet certain population requirements or

that choose to fully plan under the GMA, all provisions of the GMA

apply. See RCW 36.70A.040. These counties are commonly referred to as

full planning" counties. See, e.g., WAC 365- 196 -030, 365- 196- 800(2).

For the remaining counties, including Skamania, only certain parts

of the GMA apply. See RCW 36.70A.130, 36.70A.170; WAC 365 -196-

030(1)(c).These counties are referred to as "partial planning" counties,

because they are only partially required to comply with the GMA."

The GMA required all counties, including partial planning

counties, to designate natural resource lands
12

and critical areas" by

ii Partial planning counties are also referred to as counties that "do not plan"
under the GMA, see, e.g., WAC 365- 196 - 830(1), as counties that "do not fully plan"
under the GMA, see, e.g., WAC 365- 196- 030(1)(b), and as "CARL counties," for the
critical areas and resource lands provisions that apply to them.

12 Natural resource lands (i.e., resource lands) include agricultural lands, forest

13



September 1, 1991. RCW 36.70A.170. These initial classifications and

designations were not intended to be permanent. See 1000 Friends of

Washington v. McFarland, 159 Wn. 2d 165, 169, 149 P.3d 616 (2006)

Planning is not a one time thing "). Instead, "[e]ach comprehensive land

use plan and development regulations shall be subject to continuing review

and evaluation by the county or city that adopted them." RCW

36.70A.130(1)(a) (emphasis added).

In addition to that continuing review requirement, the GMA also

requires periodic review under specific timetables. When partial planning

counties conduct periodic review, each county "shall take action to review

and, if needed, revise its policies and development regulations regarding

critical areas and natural resource lands adopted according to [the GMA]

to ensure these policies and regulations comply with the requirements of

the GMA]." RCW 36.70A.130(1)(b).

The initial statutory deadline for all counties to complete the first

round of periodic review was September 1, 2002. As applicable to

Skamania, the legislature extended that deadline three times. First, in

lands, and mineral resource lands. RCW 36.70A.170.

13 Critical areas include wetlands, aquifer recharging areas, fish and wildlife
areas, frequently flooded areas, and geologically hazardous areas. RCW 36.70A.030(5).

14
Laws of 1997, ch. 429, § 10 (formerly codified at RCW 36.70A.130(1)); see

also Kitsap County v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hr'gs Bd., 138 Wn. App. 863,
879, 158 P.3d 638 (Div. II, 2007).
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2002, the legislature replaced and extended the 2002 deadline pursuant to

a statutory timetable. Skamania's new deadline was December 1, 2005.

Second, in 2005, the legislature extended the deadline for the

critical areas component of periodic review by one year, making Skamania

County's new deadline for this component Dec. 1, 2006.

Third, in 2006, the legislature extended the deadline for both

critical areas and resource lands for counties meeting certain population

requirements, including Skamania County. 
18

Skamania's new deadline

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