#### NO. 44269-8-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

# SAVE OUR SCENIC AREA and FRIENDS OF THE COLUMBIA GORGE, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

#### SKAMANIA COUNTY,

Respondent.

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF SKAMANIA COUNTY

Susan Elizabeth Drummond, WSBA #30689 LAW OFFICES OF SUSAN ELIZABETH DRUMMOND, PLLC 5400 Carillon Point, Bldg. 5000, Ste. 476 Kirkland, WA 98033 (206) 682-0767

Adam Nathaniel Kick, WSBA #27525 SKAMANIA COUNTY PROSECUTOR P.O. Box 790 Stevenson, WA 98648 (509) 427-3790

#

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

The consistent policy in this state is to review decisions affecting use of land expeditiously so that legal uncertainties can be promptly resolved and land development not unnecessarily slowed or defeated by litigation-based delays. 98

Where a challenge to a street vacation ordinance "was not commenced until 38 days after the ordinance at issue was enacted," and a necessary party "was not joined in the action until 78 days after that date," the appeal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> CP 37-39.

<sup>96</sup> Moore v. Whitman County, 143 Wn.2d 96, 18 P.3d 566 (2006); RCW 36.70A.290(2).

RAP 9.12; Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. American Tower, Inc., 173 Wn. App. 154, 158, 293
 P.3d 407 (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Federal Way v. King County, 62 Wn. App. 530, 538, 815 P.2d 790 (1991); see also Jewell v. Kirkland, 50 Wn. App. 813, 820, 750 P.2d 1307 (1988).

was filed too late.<sup>99</sup> "Given the requirement that decisions directly affecting the use of land be promptly determined we can only hold that this lengthy delay in challenging the ordinance was unreasonable ...." Where the appeal period is not statutorily set forth, the analogous appeal period is 30-days. <sup>101</sup>

[W]here ... there is no other appeal period prescribed by statute or local ordinance governing the type of land use action involved, the appeal must be brought within 30 days of the municipality's or agency's final decision. ... We are not persuaded ... that the policy reasons for having shorter appeal periods in land use cases do not apply to areawide rezones. <sup>102</sup>

The County took an appealable action in 2007 just as occurred in *City of Federal Way* and *Brutsche v. City of Kent.*<sup>103</sup> Consequently, even if FOG had contested the use of a 60 day appeal period in Superior Court, waiting five years to raise a challenge is well beyond the 20 day appeal period for appealing County Commissioner decisions.<sup>104</sup> the standard 30 day appeal period for land use decisions, and GMA's 60 day appeal period.

<sup>99</sup> Federal Way v. King County, 62 Wn. App. at 540.

<sup>100</sup> Federal Way v. King County, 62 Wn. App. at 540, emphasis added.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Concerned Organized Women and People Opposed to Offensive Proposals, Inc. v. The City of Arlington, 69 Wn. App. 209, 215-216, 847 P.2d 963 (1993). Because RCW 58.17.180 was amended in 1995 to utilize LUPA procedures, which provide a 21-day appeal period, the courts are likely to apply this shorter period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Brutsche v. City of Kent, 78 Wn. App. 370, 380 and FN 11, 898 P.2d 319 (1995), internal citations omitted.

Federal Way v. King County, 62 Wn. App. 530, 815 P.2d 790 (1991); Brutsche v. City of Kent, 78 Wn. App. 370, 898 P.2d 319 (1995).
 RCW 36.32.330.

### 4.3.2. Moratoria Do not Suspend Appeal Periods

The County's 2007 Comprehensive Plan was adopted well after the legislature enacted RCW 36.70.545 in 1990.<sup>105</sup> If FOG believed the Plan and Zoning Code were inconsistent under RCW 36.70.545, FOG's duty to appeal was triggered in 2007.

Adopting a moratorium does not suspend the appeal period. To the extent there is an inconsistency between the Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Code, that inconsistency was created when the County adopted the Plan. The duty to appeal was triggered then. A moratorium may suspend development, but it does not cure plan and zoning inconsistencies or suspend an appeal period for five years. Lacking a published opinion to support this extraordinary contention, FOG points to a Growth Board decision, which as FOG recognizes, is not binding on the Court, <sup>106</sup> and is not on point.

The Board found, for purposes of its jurisdiction, that a moratorium was a development regulation. The Board did not hold that that adopting a series of rolling moratoria indefinitely suspends appeal periods. Such an approach is inconsistent with *Federal Way* and *Brutsche* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> As of 1992, development regulations non-GMA counties "shall not be inconsistent with the county's comprehensive plan...." RCW 36.70.545.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Brief of Appellants, p. 32, FN 34.

Master Builders Ass'n of King & Snohomish Counties v. City of Sammamish, Growth Management Hearings Board No. 05-3-0030c (August 4, 2005).

v. City of Kent. <sup>108</sup> as Section 4.3.1 discusses, which is incorporated here. Moratorium cessation simply allows development to proceed under the preexisting plans and regulations, which remain in place, unless timely appealed, or subsequently revised. The duty to appeal is triggered when a plan or regulation is adopted, not at some uncertain point in the future, after a series of moratoria expire.

#### 4.3.3. The Plan and Zoning are Consistent

Even if FOG's appeal was timely, there is no inconsistency between the Plan and the zoning. The Plan specifically identifies the zoning which is consistent with and may implement the Plan. Table 2-1 shows the Comprehensive Plan designations which are consistent with each zoning designation. The Plan identifies a number of zoning classifications, including the Unmapped Zoning Designation. The Plan states the Conservancy designation may be implemented through the Unmapped Zoning designation, which the County originally adopted in 1985. Thus, if a parcel has both a Conservancy designation and an Unmapped Zoning designation, the two are consistent. FOG cannot meet its burden of proof to demonstrate there is an inconsistency, and certainly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Federal Way v. King County, 62 Wn. App. 530, 815 P.2d 790 (1991); Brutsche v. City of Kent, 78 Wn. App. 370, 898 P.2d 319 (1995).

<sup>110</sup> CP 368-370; CP 82-85.

cannot demonstrate the County's actions are "arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law."<sup>111</sup> The Superior Court properly dismissed the appeal.

### 4.4. Moratorium Lapse is not Subject to SEPA

### 4.4.1. Moratorium Lapse is not a SEPA "Action"

Moratorium lapse is not a "[n]ew and continuing" activity, "[n]ew or revised agency" regulation or procedure, or a "[l]egislative proposal" which triggers SEPA. A moratorium is a discretionary mechanism to preserve the status quo to allow for the enactment of substantive legislation which is subject to SEPA. Absent compliance with statutory prerequisites, a moratorium automatically lapses within six months. 113

Ordinance 2012-08 is consistent with this statutory authority. The Ordinance does not enact the moratorium lapse. That is automatic. Instead, the County "modified and extended" the moratorium with respect to a portion of the County, but allowed the moratorium to otherwise lapse by operation of statute. To the extent there was an "action" which could be subjected to SEPA review, it was the continuation of the moratorium over 4,500 acres, not the statutorily required cessation. Consequently, there was no SEPA "action" for FOG to appeal in Ordinance 2012-08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Brief of Appellants, p. 29; Saldin Securities, Inc. v. Snohomish County, 134 Wn.2d 288, 949 P.2d 370 (1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> WAC 197-11-704; RCW 43.21C.030(2)(c); RCW 43.21C.031(1).

<sup>113</sup> RCW 36.70,795.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> CP 322.

There is no legal duty for the County to continue the moratorium indefinitely. Indeed, within the shoreline area, the State Supreme Court has reversed rolling moratoria and narrowly construed moratoria authority. Before the Superior Court, FOG failed to point to a single case, statute, or regulation which even suggested SEPA applies to moratoria.

Adopting a series of moratorium ordinances over a five year period does not make those ordinances a permanent fixture of the County's regulatory structure, which cannot lapse without the County first completing SEPA review. Such an approach would violate RCW 36.70.795, which requires a moratorium to terminate within six months.

The plain language within the entirety of a statute is reviewed to give effect to legislative intent and avoid absurd results. RCW 36.70.795 is not ambiguous. Moratoria are authorized, but absent compliance with specified steps, they automatically expire in six months.

A moratorium ... adopted under this section may be effective for not longer than six months, but may be effective for up to one year if a work plan is developed for related studies providing for such a longer period. A moratorium ... may be renewed for one or more six-month

biggers v. City of Bainbridge Island, 162 Wn.2d 683, 169 P.3d 14 (2007), plurality opinion. The legislature subsequently amended Ch. 90.58 RCW, at RCW 90.58.590. Department of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10 and 11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); Tingey v. Haisch, 159 Wn.2d 652, 663-664, 152 P.3d 1020 (2005) (courts avoid "absurd" interpretations of the law).

periods if a subsequent public hearing is held and findings of fact are made prior to each renewal. 117

Requiring SEPA review before moratorium cessation potentially forces the County to violate RCW 36.70.795. Preparing an environmental impact statement is costly and time consuming, particularly if appeals ensue. 118 As the County lacks the funds to prepare such a document, the result would be indefinite maintenance of the moratorium, in violation of RCW 36.70.795.

FOG's reliance on Byers v. Board of Clallam County Comm'rs, 119 for the proposition that before statutory expiration occurs, SEPA must be complied with, is misplaced. Byers dealt with not a moratorium, but enactment of a comprehensive regulatory structure with 30 pages of regulations:

[T]he term "interim" is somewhat a misnomer when applied to the Clallam County resolution. The ordinance here involved is actually a detailed zoning code which, according to its title, establishes 'the boundaries of areas to be known as zones to which the use classifications are applied, and within which zones the heights of buildings, areas of lots, building sites and yard spaces are regulated...' It includes 30 pages of detailed zoning regulations. Any so called "interim zoning" ordinance of such detail, scheduled to be effective for 4 years, must be adopted pursuant to ...

<sup>117</sup> RCW 36.70.795, emphasis added.

<sup>118</sup> See e.g., CP 75 (County's environmental review for an earlier ordinance was remanded for EIS preparation). In large part due to resource constraints, Whistling Ridge was permitted through the state's siting process, rather than locally. 119 84 Wn.2d 796, 529 P.2d 823 (1974).

RCW 36.70. This is particularly true where, as here, there has been no determination that an "emergency" exists which requires "interim zoning." "Interim zoning," under RCW 36.70.790 ... is not intended to be used as a means of adopting a virtually complete zoning ordinance for a relatively extended period of time. 120

The Board in *Master Builders* relied on *Byers*, as there, a city was utilizing moratoria as a permanent stall tactic to avoid adopting a comprehensive regulatory structure. Once the city allowed the moratorium to lapse by operation of statute, the Board found compliance.<sup>121</sup> Here, the exact opposite occurred.

Skamania County adopted comprehensive zoning regulations governing 42,663 acres, and then allowed the moratorium to lapse as a result ("The subarea plan final zoning was adopted in May 2012 so the moratorium can be modified.")<sup>122</sup> The rezone was subject to SEPA; moratorium lapse was not.

The County's moratorium was originally adopted to address an emergency. <sup>123</sup> In voting for the more limited moratorium, a former County Commissioner remained concerned that an emergency situation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Byers v. Board of Clallam County Comm'rs., 84 Wn.2d at 800-801.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Master Builders Ass'n of King and Snohomish Counties v. City of Sammamish, Growth Management Hearings Board No. 05-3-0027 (October 20, 2005). (The cause numbers for the two Board decisions are distinct as the Board segregated the original case, but the later compliance decision addressed the noncompliant moratorium.)

<sup>122</sup> CP 323.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> CP 30-32.

remained, and questioned how much land should be subject to the statutory lapse. 124 However, by allowing the moratorium to lapse, Skamania County's intent was not "to open the door to unplanned and unregulated development on thousands of acres of land," and create an emergency situation. 125 Rather, the County came to terms with the fact that its worst fears concerning development had not happened. Something far worse had.

With a depleted tax base, high unemployment, and funding cuts necessitating laying off County staff, the issue was not dealing with an influx of development, but the fact that because there was not any development, maintaining basic government services and operations had become the overriding concern. 126

FOG may prefer maintenance of a permanent moratorium by forcing the County to prepare an environmental impact statement it cannot afford, and would likely be litigated, but such an approach violates RCW 36.70.795. Application of SEPA to moratoria is also antithetical to the purpose of a moratorium, which is adopted on an emergency basis and

<sup>124</sup> CP 180-181; see also Brief of Appellants, pgs. 41-42.
125 Appellants' Opening Brief, pgs. 48-49.
126 See section 2.1, which is incorporated herein.

contains no substantive standards, and is statutorily required to terminate within six months, absent affirmative action to continue it.<sup>127</sup>

#### 4.4.2. SEPA's Categorical Exemption for Emergencies

Moratoria are emergency enactments, and are therefore exempt from SEPA. Because the interim ordinance was passed in response to an emergency situation, the County did not violate SEPA's mandate. FOG has never challenged the County's declaration of emergency as applied to moratorium adoption or taken the position that SEPA applies to moratorium enactment. If moratorium adoption is exempt, then its automatic, statutory cessation is as well, because the expiration is built into the original adoption decision.

Once the emergency ceases, if SEPA is to apply, it could only be applied to a decision to continue the moratorium, **not** its automatic lapse. Although the non-binding Board decision FOG relies on does not address SEPA's emergency exemption, this approach is consistent, as the Board

<sup>127</sup> RCW 36.70.795.

WAC 197-11-880 ("Actions that must be undertaken immediately or within a time too short to allow full compliance with this chapter, to avoid an imminent threat to public health or safety, to prevent an imminent danger to public or private property, or to prevent an imminent threat of serious environmental degradation, shall be exempt.")

129 Jablinske v. Snohomish County, 28 Wn. App. 848, 853, 626 P.2d 543 (1981).

found GMA compliance after the city's moratorium was allowed to lapse by operation by statute. 130

FOG's failure to timely appeal County planning decisions cannot be cured by requiring moratorium cessation to undergo SEPA review. Not only is cessation not a SEPA action, but as moratoria are categorically exempt, no SEPA review is required before a moratorium automatically lapses per statutory directive.

## 4.4.3. SEPA's Categorical Exemption for Procedural Matters

There are no substantive standards adopted by moratorium cessation. When a moratorium ceases, there is simply a reversion to the status quo and the underlying regulatory structure. Moratorium cessation "relat[es] ... solely to governmental procedures," and is exempt from SEPA.

The proposal or adoption of legislation, rules, regulations, resolutions or ordinances, or of any plan or program relating solely to governmental procedures, and containing no substantive standards respecting use or modification of the environment shall be exempt.<sup>131</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Master Builders Ass'n of King and Snohomish Counties v. City of Sammamish, Growth Management Hearings Board, No. 05-3-0027 (October 20, 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> WAC 197-11-800(19); see also Dioxin/Organochlorine Center v. PCHB, 131 Wn.2d 345, 362, 932 P.2d 158 (1997) ("SEPA and its amendments present a statutory scheme in which uniform rules are established to identify actions generally exempt from SEPA without the necessity of further review.").

Simply because FOG has become accustomed to the moratorium does not create some substantive, legal right for it to be indefinitely maintained. Such an approach is not consistent with the concerns over rolling moratoria the Supreme Court identified in *Biggers*, 132 or with RCW 36.70.795.

#### 4.4.4. FOG Lacks Standing

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